S227393

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 2 6 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER

Defendant, Appellant,

VS.

BERTHE FELICITE KABRAN, Successor in Interest to EKE WOKOCHA.

Plaintiff and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE CASE NO. D064133

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LOTZ, DOGGETT & RAWERS, LLP

JEFFREY S. DOGGETT (SB No. 147235; jdoggett@ldrlaw.com) PATRICK F. HIGLE (SB No. 222585; phigle@ldrlaw.com) 101 West Broadway, Suite 1110 San Diego, California 92101 (619) 233-5565•FAX: (619) 233-5564

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT, APPELLANT,

INTRODUCTION:
WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED3-
LEGAL DISCUSSION6-
UNIFORMITY OF DECISION IS NECESSARY
WHEN THE DECISIONS OF TWO COURTS OF
APPEAL ARE IN DIRECT CONFLICT6-
CONCLUSION15-
CERTIFICATE OF WORD COUNT16-
ADDENDUM17-

C			
2			
J			

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER

Defendant, Appellant, and Petitioner,

VS.

BERTHE FELICITE KABRAN, Successor in Interest to EKE WOKOCHA,

Plaintiff and Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUE PRESENTED

California Code of Civil Procedure §659a reads, "[w]ithin 10 days of filing the notice, the moving party shall serve upon all other parties and file any affidavits intended to be used upon such motion. Such other parties shall have ten days after such service within which to serve upon the moving party and file counter-affidavits. The time herein specified may, for good cause shown by affidavit or by written stipulation of the parties, be extended by any judge for an additional period of not exceeding 20 days."

This is how former California Code of Civil Procedure §659a read before a 2014 amendment. Because the original motion for new trial here was filed in 2013, the former statute, as presented here, applies.

Is the 30-day aggregate period as set forth in California Code of Civil Procedure §659a jurisdictional, such that if a moving party fails to file and serve "affidavits intended to be used" upon a motion for a new trial within that 30 day aggregate period, the trial court cannot consider any late-filed affidavits?

INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case presents a matter of statewide importance - whether the time constraints in California Code of Civil Procedure §659a (hereinafter "section 659a") are jurisdictional, such that a court cannot consider late-filed documents.

Following a 10-week medical malpractice trial in San Diego County Superior Court in late 2012, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Defendant, Appellant, and Petitioner, SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER. The parties stipulated to allow Plaintiff in the underlying action an additional 20 days past the 10 days allotted by section 659a for filing and serving of affidavits in support of a motion for new trial, giving Plaintiff until April 1, 2013 (a court holiday) to file any such affidavits. Plaintiff attempted to file its moving papers and affidavits on April 2, 2013, which were rejected by the Superior Court for failure to submit the mandatory filing fee. The filing was therefore "cancelled" by the court clerk. Plaintiff thereafter was successful in filing the moving papers and affidavits with the court on April 5, 2013. The San Diego Superior Court granted Plaintiff's motion for a new trial. Then-Defendant SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER appealed from that decision. On May 20, 2015, the California Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, held that the time constraints in section 659a were not jurisdictional, and that the

Superior Court did not exceed its jurisdiction in considering the late-filed documents.

In a prior appellate decision, however, the California Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, held that the time constraints in Section 659a were jurisdictional.² Erikson v. Weiner (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1663, 1672-73. The Superior Court in that underlying case considered late-filed affidavits, which the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District ruled was error pursuant to section 659a. *Id.* at 1666, 1674.

The supplies and the supplies of the supplies

The May 20, 2015 decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, is in direct conflict with the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District's decision in *Erikson*, as well as the First and Second Appellate Districts' previous decisions cited in footnote 2 below. Here, the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, expressly disagreed with *Erikson*, *supra*, 48 Cal.App.4th 1663, on whether section 659a is jurisdictional. The *Erikson* Court answered yes, while the Court of Appeal here answered no, stating "[w]e are not persuaded by *Erikson*'s analysis and reasoning." (Typed opn.

It should be noted that the mandatory nature of the aggregate time limits of section 659a have also been addressed by the Court of Appeal, First District (Crespo v. Cook (1959) 168 Cal.App.2d 360, 363-64), and by the Court of Appeal, Second District (Sitkei v. Frimel (1948) 85 Cal.App.2d 335, 338-39). These cases were also cited in oral argument.

p.12). As a result, this decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, has created a direct conflict in California law. A review by the California Supreme Court is necessary not only to secure uniformity of decision, but also to settle an important question of law.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

UNIFORMITY OF DECISION IS NECESSARY WHEN THE DECISIONS OF TWO COURTS OF APPEAL ARE IN DIRECT CONFLICT

Erikson v. Weiner is a 1996 Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District decision. That case was a medical malpractice action where a jury found the defendant doctor negligent and awarded damages to Plaintiff. Erikson, supra, 48 Cal.App.4th at 1666-67. The Defendant doctor filed notice of intention to move for a new trial. Id. at 1667. The Defendant asked for, and was granted, an additional 20 days past the 10 days allotted by section 659a for filing and serving of affidavits in support of the motion for new trial. Id. The Defendant filed an affidavit within the 30 day aggregate due date, and filed others after the deadline. Id. The Superior Court admitted the late-filed affidavit. Id. at 1669. The Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, citing section 659a, stated that "we decide that the provision of Code of Civil Procedure section 659a that the trial court may extend the period within which to file an affidavit in support of a new trial 'not exceeding 20 days' is mandatory. Accordingly, we will not consider the defendant's affidavits filed after the expiration of that period." *Id.* at 1666.

The reasoning behind the *Erikson* decision holding that section 659a was jurisdictional was explained thoroughly in the opinion. *Id.* at 1672-73. The *Erikson* court notes that "[s]ection 659a provides that the moving party *shall* file his affidavits within 10 days and prescribes a precise and expressly limited remedy for failure to comply.³ The trial court 'may, for good cause shown by affidavit or by written stipulation of the parties, [extend the time to file] for an additional period *of not exceeding 20 days*." *Id.* at 1672 (emphasis in original). The court continued, "[s]ince the 20-day period may not be exceeded the trial court has no discretion to admit affidavits submitted thereafter. That being the consequence plainly entailed by the statute, the statute must be read as mandating only that remedy." *Id.*

The *Erikson* court further reasoned that all of the related statutory time frames for initiating and resolving a new trial motion are also mandatory. *Id.* "The notice of new trial must be given within 15 days of mailing the notice of entry of judgment; a late filing is void." *Id.*, citing California Code of Civil Procedure section 659. "The court must resolve the motion by 60 days from the date of mailing the notice of entry of judgment; this time period is

3

It is well-established that the 10-day limit is not jurisdictional, as the statute itself provides for a discretionary extension by the trial court. However, the 30-day aggregate time limit is jurisdictional according to the language of the statute.

jurisdictional." *Id.*, citing California Code of Civil Procedure section 660. "The opposing party must have at least 10 days to file counter-affidavits." *Id.*, citing section 659a." "When the time to file counter-affidavits has expired the respective parties are entitled to five days' notice by mail of the hearing." *Id.*, citing California Code of Civil Procedure section 661. The *Erikson* court continued, [i]n light of these associated time frames, the extension of time to file affidavits beyond the aggregate 30-day period provided in section 659a will almost always encroach upon the interests of the opposing party to her allotted time for response to the new trial motion or upon the period in which the court may deliberate after submission." *Id.* "These considerations also impel the view that the aggregate period is mandatory. Where statutory requirements are intended by the legislature to provide protection or benefit to individuals they are likely to be construed as mandatory." *Id.* at 1672-73.

In this case, the San Diego Superior Court jury rendered its verdict on December 13, 2012. (AA at pp. 91-94.) Judgment was entered on February 5, 2013. (AA at pp. 95-99.) Notice of Entry of Judgment was personally served on all parties on February 14, 2013. (AA at pp. 104-105.) Plaintiff successfully filed notice of intent to move for a new trial within the statutory provided 15-day time frame, on March 1, 2013. (AA at pp. 100-101; section 659(a)(2).) Pursuant to section 659a, Plaintiff then had 10 days, or until March 11, 2013, to file its moving papers and "any affidavits intended to be used

upon such motion". However, also pursuant to section 659a, all parties stipulated to allow Plaintiff the additional 20 days provided by statute to file moving papers and any supporting affidavits. (AA at pp. 102-103.)

Plaintiff missed the new deadline to file moving papers and supporting affidavits on April 1, 2013 (a Court holiday). Plaintiff first attempted to file moving papers and supporting affidavits on April 2, 2013, but the moving papers and supporting affidavits were rejected by the San Diego County Superior Court because they were not supported by the required filing fee. (AA at pp. 106-169.) Plaintiff then successfully filed moving papers, supporting affidavits, and the filing fee with the San Diego County Superior Court on April 5, 2013. (AA at pp. 170-240.) This was three days beyond the aggregate maximum time allotted by section 659a, and thus the San Diego County Superior Court should not have considered the late-filed documents, and exceeded its jurisdiction in doing so.

Also on April 3, 2013, Plaintiff in the underlying medical malpractice case appeared in San Diego County Superior Court on an *ex parte* basis to request that the Court hear Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial on August 15, 2013.⁴ (AA at pp. 104-105.) Pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure

It should be noted that Plaintiff re-filed the original papers directly in the department on April 3, 2013, again without a filing fee.

section 660, the Superior Court had only 60 days to hear and rule on Plaintiff's motion. However, because April 5, 2013 was the date of the valid filing of Plaintiff's moving papers and affidavits, that left only 10 days (out of the potential 30 days allotted by section 659a) for Defendant, Appellant, and SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP Petitioner REHABILITATION CENTER to file its opposing papers and affidavits, and to have the Superior Court hear and rule on the motion. However, at the ex parte hearing, it was ordered that SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER file and serve its opposition papers and affidavits by 12:00 p.m. on April 10, 2013, leaving it just seven days to do so. (AA at pp. 241.) SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER was entitled, under section 659a, to a full 10 days to file its opposition and moving papers, as well as an additional 20 days if good cause were shown or the parties so stipulated. This was in violation of section 659a, and thus the San Diego County Superior Court exceeded its jurisdiction in doing so. In fact, this very scenario at hand highlights why all the time limits for noticing/bringing a motion for a new trial are jurisdictional.

The San Diego County Superior Court heard Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial on April 12, 2013, and granted it. Defendant, Appellant, and Petitioner SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER appealed the San Diego County Superior Court's decision to

consider the late-filed documents and grant a new trial. The Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, disagreed with the established *Erikson* matter, *supra*, 48 Cal.App.4th 1663, as to whether the Court has discretion to admit affidavits submitted after the 30-day aggregate time period set forth in section 659a. The *Erikson* Court answered that the statute was jurisdictional, while the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District here answered it was not, stating "[n]or are we persuaded by *Erikson*'s interpretation of the statute and its purported consequences." (Typed opn. p.13). As such, interpretation of section 659a and the corresponding established, published case law, is an important question of law warranting this Court's consideration. California *Rules of Court* Rule 8.500(b)(1).

The Court of Appeal here also stated that because SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER failed to challenge the timeliness of the Plaintiff's filed moving papers and affidavits, or the period of time in which it was left to file opposing papers in the Superior Court, and instead challenged the motion on its merits, SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER may not for the first time on appeal challenge the Superior Court's power to consider Plaintiff's new trial motion. (Typed opn. p.16).

SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER could not object to the late filing of Plaintiff's affidavits at the April 12, 2013 hearing on Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial because SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER could have no idea at that time that the moving papers and affidavits which Plaintiff had filed and served on April 2, 2013 had been rejected by the Superior Court. The only persons who could conceivably be charged with notice would be the Plaintiff, the Superior Court clerk, and perhaps the Superior Court department where the motion would be heard. Plaintiff served SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER its moving papers and affidavits on April 2, 2013, none of which had a "FILE STAMP CANCELLED" indication on them. Presumably the Superior Court returned the cancelled filings to Plaintiff.

The Superior Court's ruling on April 3, 2013, eliminated most of the statutory time SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER had to gather affidavits and mount an opposition. SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER simply cannot be held to a standard whereby every pleading or document it is served must be crossed-check within the Superior Court system for validity. SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER could not have waived what it could

not have possibly known. Instead, SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL dba SHARP REHABILITATION CENTER raised the argument at the first opportunity it had upon learning of Plaintiff's April 2, 2013 rejected moving papers and affidavits - which was at the Court of Appeal.

Furthermore, if indeed section 659a is jurisdictional, as is the case for California Code of Civil Procedure section 659 and section 660 (*Tri-County Elevator Co. v. Superior Court* (1982) 135 Cal.App.3d 271, 277; see also Siegal v. Superior Court (1968) 68 Cal.2d 97, 101), then jurisdiction cannot be conferred by waiver. It is well-established that violations of the time limits of California Code of Civil Procedure section 659 and section 660 render a motion for new trial "denied by operation of law". Siegal, supra, 68 Cal.2d at 101-102. Thus, the trial court possesses no discretion and cannot simply act in excess of jurisdiction in ruling on the motion. Rather, the court lacks fundamental jurisdiction to rule at all on matters violating these sections.

The Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District's ruling in this instance concludes that the time limits in section 659a are not jurisdictional. (Typed opn. p. 15). In support of this conclusion, the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, looks to the language of section 659a, and indicating that "shall" does not mean "mandatory" in this instance. (Typed opn. pp. 12-13). However, as pointed out in *Erikson*, not only does "shall" mean "mandatory"

as used in section 659a, but the same use of the word "shall" is in fact interpreted to be jurisdictional in nature under California Code of Civil Procedure section 659 (holding that under California Code of Civil Procedure section 659 a late filing of a notice of new trial is void). California Code of Civil Procedure section 659 provides no additional language which would lead to a different conclusion as to its "mandatory" nature than that which is contained in section 659a. Erikson, supra, 48 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1672-73

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District's ruling that the time constraints found in section 659a are not jurisdictional has serious implications for Plaintiffs and Defendants, alike, throughout the state. Its holding is in direct conflict with the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, which would not consider late filed documents pursuant to section 659a, creating uncertainly in the interpretation of the statute going forward. It is essential that this Court grant review.