S.Ct. Case No.: S227393

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

### BERTHE FELICITE KABRAN

Plaintiff and Respondent,

SUPREME COURT

v.

JUL 1 7 2015

#### SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Defendant and Appellant.

Deputy

(CRC) 8.25(b)

After Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth District Div. One (D064133)

Superior Court of San Diego County, Hon. John Meyer, Judge (37-2010-00083678-CU-PO-CTL)

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

# KENNETH M. SIGELMAN AND ASSOCIATES

Kenneth M. Sigelman, Esq./100238 Penelope A. Phillips, Esq./106170 1901 First Avenue, Second Floor San Diego, CA 92101 (619) 238-3813

## WILLIAMS IAGMIN LLP

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

# WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Having Suffered No Prejudice, Sharp Now Attempts to Exploit a Technical Issue to Invoke This Court's Review and Thereby Avoid a New Trial.

Sharp does not want to retry this case. This is understandable inasmuch as Sharp has devoted considerable time and resources developing a defense strategy - that Dr. Wokocha's quadriplegia was induced by the natural progression of a cancerous mass - which will now be refuted by the physical evidence uncovered by Dr. Wokocha's autopsy. Indeed, instead of merely relying on their favorable interpretations of imaging studies, Sharp's experts will now be confronted on retrial with actual tissue samples from Dr. Wokocha's brain and spine that plainly demonstrate the presence of a traumatic neuroma and the absence of a cancerous mass compromising his spinal cord. (Opn. at 4-5, 18-20.)<sup>1</sup> It is for that very reason that the Court of Appeal gave "great weight" to the trial court's conclusion that the new evidence made it reasonably probable that Kabran would have obtained a more favorable result. (Opn. at 26.)

All facts in this brief are supported by reference to the Court of Appeal's Opinion, abbreviated as (Opn. at [page]); Sharp's Appellant's Appendix, abbreviated as: ([volume] AA [page]); and the Reporter's Transcript, abbreviated as: ([volume] RT [page]).

Rather than confront that new evidence head-on, Sharp raises a diversion in a rather obvious attempt to invoke this Court's review and thereby forestall a new trial. Sharp's central thesis – that it was somehow impacted by when affidavits and counter-affidavits were filed in the underlying new trial proceedings – fails on its own merits for two fundamental reasons, and therefore cannot serve as a reasonable basis for this Court's review.

First, Sharp was not prejudiced in any way by when Kabran filed her brief and affidavits with the trial court, as Sharp was timely (and personally) served with those documents and had ample time to respond to them. (See Opn. at 3-4, 15-16.) Although Sharp previously claimed that Kabran did not timely file those papers on April 1, 2013, it then retreated from that point when it was forced to concede that April 1, 2013 was a court holiday. (Opn. at 3, 5.) Sharp then seized upon the fact that the Superior Court clerk filed Kabran's affidavits and supporting papers on April 2, 2013, but then at some later point "unfiled" those documents and stamped that previous filing as "canceled" because the court allegedly had not received an accompanying filing fee. (Opn. at 3-4.) Putting aside the issue of whether the Superior Court clerk – after having accepted Kabran's filing and stamped it "filed" - could, a day or two later, "unfile" those previously filed documents and stamp the filing "cancelled" instead (an issue the Court of Appeal determined it need not decide to rule in Kabran's favor - see Opn. at 10), the fact remains that Sharp was previously and timely served with Kabran's affidavits and supporting papers on April 2, 2013. Thus, Sharp had no knowledge of how the Superior Court clerk had handled the filing because it was not encumbered in any way by the clerk's actions or the payment of the accompanying filing fee because it received Kabran's supporting papers as required by law. Thus, the Court of Appeal correctly determined that Sharp suffered no prejudice whatsoever by virtue of the date those papers were filed either for the first time, on April 2, 2013, or subsequently refiled by the clerk, on April 5, 2013. (Opn. at 3-4, 15-16.) Further evidence of that fact is that Sharp never raised the issue of timeliness in its opposition papers. (Opn. at 15-16.) Thus, what was clear to the Court of Appeal remains clear today: Sharp is trying to exploit a perceived technical defect in the filing of Kabran's supporting affidavits and briefing to manufacture an issue for this Court's review and to avoid a retrial on the merits. This Court should decline Sharp's invitation to devote its limited time and resources to such a purely theoretical and contrived controversy. Indeed, the complete absence of any prejudice suffered by Sharp makes this case a particularly poor platform for that review.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sharp also contended that on *ex parte* motion, the trial court impermissibly reduced the time it had to respond to Kabran's new trial motion (continued on the next page)

Second, simply because statutory language is "mandatory" does not mean that it is also "jurisdictional." Indeed, throughout its briefing in the Court of Appeal and its Petition before this Court, Sharp continues to conflate those two concepts, so as to suggest that all time deadlines provided by the Legislature for the briefing of new trial motions are necessarily "jurisdictional" and therefore, if they are not assiduously met, trial courts are robbed of their fundamental jurisdiction to decide those motions. On this point, Sharp is simply wrong. What is clear is that the initial filing of a notice of intent to move for new trial is a jurisdictional deadline. (See Tri-County Elevator Co. v. Superior Court (1982) 135 Cal.App.3d 271, 277.) But there is no dispute that Kabran satisfied that jurisdictional deadline in this case. (Opn. at 9-10.) Consequently, as the Court of Appeal aptly pointed-out, Sharp's continuing reliance on cases which analyze the jurisdictional imperative of timely filing a notice of intention to move for new trial do not support Sharp's dissimilar argument that the subsequent deadlines for filing supporting and opposition affidavits and briefs carry with them the same jurisdictional mandate. (Opn. at

<sup>(</sup>continued from the previous page)

from ten days to seven days. (Opn. at 6.) But because Sharp never produced a record which demonstrated that it ever objected to that timetable for briefing the new trial motion, the Court of Appeal correctly determined that Sharp had waived that objection on appeal. (Opn. at 6 and fn. 6.)

10-11 [noting how the cases Sharp has cited dealing with the deadline for filing an original notice of intention "are inapposite because there is no dispute Kabran's notice of intention to move for new trial in this case was filed within the 15-day jurisdictional deadline"].)

Developing that point even further, the Court of Appeal correctly reasoned that "[a] typical misuse of the term 'jurisdictional' is to treat it as synonymous with 'mandatory.' There are many time provisions, e.g., in procedural rules, which are not directory but mandatory; these are binding, and parties must comply with them to avoid default or other penalty. But failure to comply does not render the proceeding void . . . ." (Opn. at 14, citing *Poster v*. Southern Cal. Rapid Transit Dist. (1990) 52 Cal.3d 266, 274.) Following further guidance provided by this Court in its previous decision in *People v*. Lara (2010) 48 Cal.4th 216, 224, the Court of Appeal concluded that "[a] lack of jurisdiction in its fundamental or strict sense results in an entire absence of power to hear or determine the case, an absence of authority over the subject matter or the parties." (Opn. at 14-15.) But "in light of the general rule and the absence of clear legislative intent to the contrary, we conclude the period in which to file opposing papers, whether it be 10 or 30 days, is not jurisdictional in the fundamental sense" in that it did not deprive the trial court from ruling on that motion. (Ibid.) Thus, the Court of Appeal correctly rejected Sharp's

"mandatory v. jurisdictional" dichotomy as misconstruing the fundamental jurisdiction a trial court retains to decide a new trial motion even where mandatory briefing deadlines (as opposed to the filing deadline for a notice of intention) are not technically satisfied. (*Ibid.*) As the Court of Appeal clarified, its analysis of the trial court's "fundamental jurisdiction" to decide that new trial motion is supported by a long train of supporting authorities, creating no controversy worthy of this Court's intervention. (Opn. at 15 ["Our conclusion is consistent with the weight of authority cited above (see part I (A), *ante*), holding that the section 659a deadlines are not jurisdictional"].)

# B. There Is No Conflict in the Decisional Law Created by the Court of Appeal's Opinion Which Requires this Court's Intervention Now.

In shifting its position to the 30-day internal aggregate deadlines for filing new trial affidavits and counter-affidavits under the prior iteration of Code of Civil Procedure section 659a, Sharp has seized upon language found in the Third District's prior decision in *Erikson v. Weiner* (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1663, 1671-1672, which ostensibly held that aggregate 30-day time period is "mandatory" and therefore "jurisdictional." But the *Erikson* holding does not present a conflict now worthy of this Court's review for several fundamental reasons.

To begin, as Sharp concedes in a footnote on the first page of its Petition for Review, Erikson dealt with the language of Code of Civil Procedure section 659a as it existed before 2014 amendments completely overhauled that statute, changing the allowable briefing (by providing for the filing of a reply brief where the prior statute did not), and otherwise altering the amount of additional time a moving party can obtain for the filing of its affidavits and supporting papers. (See Code Civ. Proc. § 659a, as amended by Stats 2014, ch. 93 (AB Those changes to section 659a became effective January 1, 2015. (Ibid.) The fact that the chief case on which Sharp has relied is limited in its analysis to statutory provisions which have been replaced by an amended statute only further underscores the truly academic nature of Sharp's request for this Court's review. Indeed, any future new trial motions being brought in the trial courts will - from this point forward - be brought under the amended version of section 659a which Erikson did not address. And to that extent, providing for the filing of a reply brief in the amended version of section 659a would allow moving parties like Kabran to further brief the issue of timeliness of the filing of their initial supporting affidavits and supporting papers, if that issue was raised in any opposition (even though Sharp did not do so here). Consequently, under the current amended version of section 659a, trial courts will have greater opportunity to consider and rule on those timeliness issues with the input of *both* parties (on opposition and reply), and reviewing courts will similarly be aided with a more complete record on those issues. As such, if the Court is even remotely enticed to review the question of the nature of the internal briefing deadlines for new trial motions, *it should do so from a case which applies the new, amended version of section 659a so as to provide trial courts (which will be bound only by that new statute) the most relevant guidance going forward.* In that sense, both *Erikson* and the Court of Appeal's decision in this case necessarily have limited precedential value given the interim changes the Legislature made to section 659a and the new regime that will be followed for those motions in the future.

But perhaps most importantly is the fact that *Erikson's* language regarding whether the internal briefing deadlines for new trial motions are "mandatory" and therefore "jurisdictional" is classic *dicta*. Specifically, in *Erikson*, the *only* supporting affidavit claimed to have been filed late by the opposition and therefore beyond the trial court's "jurisdiction" was the "Gonzalez affidavit." (*Erikson, supra,* 48 Cal.App.4th at 1670 ["The only pertinent declaration admitted in evidence, the Gonzales affidavit, was not filed until after the expiration of the 20-day extension granted by the trial court which, pursuant to section 659a, may not be exceeded. This is the ground of Erikson's claim the time limit is mandatory and accordingly the affidavit may

not be considered"].) Yet importantly, the trial court considered that Gonzales affidavit and ruled against the moving party anyway, denying new trial. (*Id.* at 1669, fn. 3.) Consequently, whether the Gonzales declaration was filed late or not was inconsequential to the *Erikson* court's affirmance of the trial court's denial of new trial, as it could have simply ruled that although the trial court was not authorized to even consider the Gonzales declaration, it considered the substance of that declaration and denied the new trial motion anyway.

The Erikson court recognized this anomaly when it conceded that "Erikson was not aggrieved by the judgment or the order denying the new trial motion" and "[t]he ruling admitting the Gonzales affidavit into evidence had Thus, Erikson no adverse effect on the judgment." (*Id.* at 1671.) acknowledged that the only purpose for analyzing the timeliness of the filing of the Gonzales affidavit was to determine if the appealing party (the party moving for new trial, Dr. Weiner) had somehow been prejudiced by its admission and consideration by the trial court. (Ibid.) By that elliptical reasoning - considering the timeliness of an affidavit which was nonetheless admitted and considered by the trial court as somehow prejudicing the party who proffered that declaration - the Erikson court then set about to consider whether the deadlines established by the (then-existing) provisions of section 659a further justified the trial court's denial of Dr. Weiner's new trial motion. But if the trial court's denial of Dr. Weiner's new trial motion was correct if it had not reviewed the Gonzales affidavit, there was no reason it was incorrect if it had reviewed that declaration and reached the same result. Put differently, Dr. Weiner simply could not have been prejudiced by the trial court considering that affidavit and still ruling against him. Consequently, Erickson's entire analysis of section 659a, ultimately finding that the Gonzales declaration was late and should not have been considered, only served to validate the trial court's original new trial ruling, denying that motion even after admitting the Gonzales declaration.

This perhaps explains why *Erikson's* analysis – imbuing "mandatory" deadlines with "jurisdictional" consequence – has not been embraced by other courts either before or after *Erikson* was decided. (See Opn. at 8 and the several cases cited therein.) In synthesizing that unbroken line of authority, Witkin observed: "Affidavits or declarations [in connection with a new trial motion] filed too late may be disregarded. (Citations.) On the other hand, the time limits are not jurisdictional. The court may still consider an affidavit or declaration even if it is filed after the deadline" (8 Witkin, *Cal. Procedure* (5th ed. 2008) Attack on Judgment in Trial Court, § 65, p. 650.) Notably, in the nearly 20 years since *Erikson* was decided, it has not been cited in one published opinion for the proposition advanced by Sharp – that the internal

deadlines for briefing new trial motions are jurisdiction – only further demonstrating the context and manner in which *Erikson* decided its "mandatory equals jurisdictional" interpretation of section 659a has garnered little (if any) resonance with other courts.

In that sense, it is the Erikson decision which is the outlier - not the Court of Appeal's decision - as its extraneous discussion of section 659a's briefing deadlines appears to swim against the steady flow of contrary decisions on that very issue, decided both before and after Erikson. (See, e.g., Fredrics v. Paige (1994) 29 Cal. App. 4th 1642, 1648 ["Appellant further argues the trial court should not have considered respondent's counter-declarations because they were filed beyond the statutory 10-day period. (Citations.) We disagree. The 10-day period is not jurisdictional"]; Wiley v. Southern Pacific Transportation Co. (1990) 220 Cal.App.3d 177, 188 ["[I]t has been held that the time limits for filing the affidavits in support of a new trial motion are not jurisdictional in contrast to the time limit for filing the new trial motion under section 659"].) If there was no cause previously for this Court to address Erikson's dicta to the contrary, it certainly does not exist now by virtue of the Court of Appeal's Opinion in this case. To be sure, the Court of Appeal here not only analyzed section 659a because doing so was germane to its decision (as opposed to optional only in Erikson), but also did so in a manner which is

consistent with every other case that has squarely addressed that issue over the last 125 years. (See, e.g., Spottiswood v. Weir (1889) 80 Cal. 448, 451 [no error in allowing filing of counter-affidavits after time fixed by the code].) Accordingly, Sharp's attempts to create a conflict worthy of this Court's attention between Erikson and the Court of Appeal's Opinion instead only reveals how the Erikson decision is of limited import given the lack of necessity for it to address section 659a in the first place, and the conclusion it ultimately reached contrary to every other court which has analyzed that issue either before or after. Thus, the Court of Appeal's decision here adds nothing new to the mix, but only reinforces how Erikson rightly remains at the margins of the larger body of decisional law on this issue, and will be become even more vestigial in light of the new amendments to section 659a. Consequently, this Court's review of the Court of Appeal's Opinion to reconcile it with the Erikson decision is neither required nor justified.

## III.

# **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons – and to allow the critical newly discovered evidence revealed for the first time in Dr. Wokocha's autopsy to be evaluated by a jury on retrial – Kabran respectfully requests this Court to deny Sharp's Petition for Review.